CRAWLEY BOROUGH COUNCIL

CODE OF CONDUCT FOR COUNCILLORS

Contents

| Part 1 General Provisions | <u>Paragraph</u> |
|---|------------------|
| Introduction and Interpretation | 1 |
| Scope | 2 |
| General Obligations | 3 |
| Part 2 – Interests | |
| Personal Interests | 4 |
| Disclosure of Personal Interests | 5 |
| Prejudicial Interests Generally | 6 |
| Prejudicial Interests arising in relation to Overview and Scrutiny | 7 |
| Effect of Prejudicial Interests on Participation | 8 |
| Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPIs) | 9 |
| Disclosure of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests Effect of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests on Participation | 9(4) 9(5) |
| Part 3 – Register of Members' Interests | |
| Registration of Members' Interests | 10 |
| Sensitive Information | 11 |
| Dispensations | 12 |

Part 4 – The General Principles of Public Life

Part 5 – The Categories of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests under The Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests)
Regulations 2012 SI 2012/1464

CRAWLEY BOROUGH COUNCIL

CODE OF CONDUCT FOR MEMBERS

Part 1 - General Provisions

1. Introduction and Interpretation

- (1) This Code applies to you as a Member of the authority, when acting in that capacity.
- (2) This Code is based upon the general principles fundamental to public life which are set out in <u>Part 4</u>. You should have regard to these principles as they will help you to comply with the Code.
- (3) It is your personal responsibility to comply with the provisions of this Code. If you need guidance on any matter under this Code you should seek it from the Monitoring Officer or Deputy Monitoring Officer.
- (4) It is a criminal offence to fail to notify the Monitoring Officer of a disclosable pecuniary interest, to take part in discussions or votes at meetings, or to take a decision where you have a disclosable pecuniary interest, without reasonable excuse. It is also an offence to knowingly or recklessly provide false or misleading information to the authority's Monitoring Officer.
- (5) Any written allegation received by the authority that you have failed to comply with this Code will be dealt with by the authority under the arrangements which it has adopted for such purposes. If it is found that you have failed to comply with the Code, the authority has the right to have regard to this failure in deciding
 - a. whether to take action in relation to you and
 - b. what action to take.

(6) In this Code

"authority" means Crawley Borough Council

"Code" means this Code of Conduct

"Member" includes a co-opted Member and an appointed Member

"co-opted Member" means a person who is not a Member of the authority but who:

- (a) is a Member of any committee or sub-committee of the authority, or
- (b) is a Member of, and represents the authority on, any joint committee or joint sub-committee of the authority,

and who is entitled to vote on any question that falls to be decided at any meeting of that committee or sub-committee.

"meeting" means any meeting of:

(a) the authority; the executive, any committees, sub-committees, joint committees or area or local committees

(b) Members in formal or informal meetings with other Members and/or officers relating to the business of the authority

"register of Members' interests" means the authority's register of Members' pecuniary and other interests established and maintained by the Monitoring Officer under Section 29 of the Localism Act 2011.

2. Scope

- (1) Subject to sub-paragraphs (2) and (3), you must comply with this Code whenever you act or appear to act in your official capacity namely when you:
 - (a) conduct the business of your authority (which, in this Code, includes the business of the office to which you are elected or appointed); or
 - (b) act, claim to act or give the impression you are acting as a representative of your authority,

and references to your official capacity are construed accordingly.

- (2) This Code does not have effect in relation to your conduct other than where it is in your official capacity.
- (3) Where you act as a representative of your authority:
 - (a) on another relevant authority, you must, when acting for that other authority, comply with that other authority's Code of Conduct; or
 - (b) on any other body, you must, when acting for that other body, comply with your authority's Code of Conduct, except and insofar as it conflicts with any other lawful obligations to which that other body may be subject.

3. General Obligations

- (1) You must treat others with respect.
- (2) You must not do anything which may cause your authority to breach any of the equality duties (as set out in the Equality Act 2010);
- (3) You must not bully any person;
- (4) You must not intimidate or attempt to intimidate any person who is or is likely to be a complainant, a witness, or involved in any investigation or proceedings about a complaint that a Member (including yourself) has failed to comply with their Authority's Code of Conduct
- (5) You must not do anything which compromises or is likely to compromise the impartiality of those who work for, or on behalf of, your authority.

- (6) You must not
 - (a) disclose information given to you in confidence by anyone, or information acquired by you which you believe, or ought reasonably to be aware, is of a confidential nature, except where
 - i. you have the consent of a person authorised to give it;
 - ii. you are required by law to do so;
 - iii. the disclosure is made to a third party for the purpose of obtaining professional advice provided that the third party agrees not to disclose the information to any other person;
 - iv. the disclosure is-
 - (a) reasonable and in the public interest; and
 - (b) made in good faith and in compliance with the reasonable requirements of the authority ¹ or
 - (b) prevent another person from gaining access to information to which that person is entitled by law.
- (7) You must not conduct yourself in a manner which could reasonably be regarded as bringing your office or authority into disrepute.
- (8) You must not use or attempt to use your position as a Member improperly to confer on or secure for yourself or any other person, an advantage or disadvantage;
- (9) You must, when using or authorising the use by others of the resources of your authority:
 - (i) act in accordance with your authority's reasonable requirements;
 - (ii) ensure that such resources are not used improperly for political purposes (including party political purposes);
- (10) You must have regard to any applicable Local Authority Code of Publicity made under the Local Government Act 1986.
- (11) When reaching decisions on any matter you must have regard to any relevant advice provided to you by the authority's Chief Finance Officer; or your authority's Monitoring Officer, where that officer is acting pursuant to their statutory duties.
- (12) You must give reasons for all decisions in accordance with any statutory requirements and any reasonable additional requirements imposed by your authority.

¹ Note "In compliance with the reasonable requirement of the Authority" means that a Member should consult the Chief Executive as Head of the Paid Service, the Head of Legal, Democracy and HR (as Monitoring Officer) or The Head of Finance and Benefits (as Chief Finance Officer) before taking a decision on whether or not to disclose confidential information.

Part 2 - Interests

4. Personal Interests

- (1) You have a personal interest in any business of your authority where either:
 - (a) it relates to or is likely to affect:
 - (i) any body of which you are a Member or in a position of general control or management and to which you are appointed or nominated by your authority;
 - (ii) any body
 - (aa) exercising functions of a public nature;
 - (bb) directed to charitable purposes; or
 - (cc) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or policy (including any political party or trade union),

of which you are a Member or in a position of general control or management;

(iii) the interests of any person or body other than the authority from whom you have received a gift, benefit or hospitality as a Member with an estimated value of at least £50;

OR

- (b) a decision in relation to that business might reasonably be regarded as affecting your well-being or financial position or the well-being or financial position of a relevant person to a greater extent than the majority of other council tax payers, ratepayers or inhabitants of the electoral division or ward, as the case may be, affected by the decision;
- (2) In sub-paragraph (1)(b), a relevant person is:
 - (a) a member of your family or any person with whom you have a close association; or
 - (b) any person or body who employs or has appointed such persons, any firm in which they are a partner, or any company of which they are directors;
 - (c) any person or body in whom such persons have a beneficial interest in a class of securities exceeding the nominal value of £25,000; or
 - (d) any body of a type described in sub-paragraph (1)(a)(i) or (ii).

5. Disclosure of Personal Interests

- (1) Subject to sub-paragraphs (2) to (7) below, where you have a personal interest in any business of your authority and you attend a meeting of your authority at which any matter relating to the business is considered, you must disclose to that meeting the existence and nature of that interest at the commencement of that consideration, or when the interest becomes apparent.
- (2) Where you have a personal interest in any business of your authority which relates to or is likely to affect a person described in paragraph 4(1)(a)(i) or 4(1)(a)(ii)(aa), you need only disclose to the meeting the existence and nature of that interest when you address the meeting on that business.
- (3) Where you have a personal interest in any business of the authority or the type mentioned in paragraph 4(1)(a)(iii), you need not disclose the nature or existence of that interest to the meeting if the interest was registered more than three years before the date of the meeting.
- (4) Sub-paragraph (1) only applies where you are aware or ought reasonably to be aware of the existence of the personal interest.
- (5) Where you have a personal interest but, by virtue of paragraph 11, sensitive information relating to it is not registered in your authority's register of Members' interests, you must indicate to the meeting that you have a personal interest and, if also applicable, that it is a disclosable pecuniary interest, but need not disclose the sensitive information to the meeting.
- (6) Where you have a personal interest in any business of your authority and you have made an executive decision on any matter in relation to that business, you must ensure that any written statement of that decision records the existence and nature of that interest.
- (7) In this paragraph, "executive decision" is to be construed in accordance with any regulations made by the Secretary of State under Section 22 of the Local Government Act 2000.

6. Prejudicial Interests Generally

- (1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2) below, where you have a personal interest in any business of your authority you also have a prejudicial interest in that business where the interest is one which a member of the public with knowledge of the relevant facts would reasonably regard as so significant that it is likely to prejudice your judgement of the public interest.
- (2) You do not have a prejudicial interest in any business of the authority where that business:
 - (a) does not affect your financial position or the financial position of a person or body described in paragraph 4;
 - (b) does not relate to the determining of any approval, consent, licence, permission or registration in relation to you or any person or body described in paragraph 4; or

- (c) relates to the functions of your authority in respect of
 - (i) housing, where you are a tenant of your authority provided that those functions do not relate particularly to your tenancy or lease;
 - school meals or school transport and travelling expenses, where you are a parent or guardian of a child in full time education, or are a parent governor of a school, unless it relates particularly to the school which the child attends;
 - (iii) statutory sick pay under Part XI of the Social Security Contributions and Benefits Act 1992, where you are in receipt of, or are entitled to the receipt of, such pay;
 - (iv) an allowance, payment or indemnity given to Members;
 - (v) any ceremonial honour given to Members; and
 - (vi) setting council tax or a precept under the Local Government Finance Act 1992.
- (3) The determining of any approval, consent, licence, permission or registration as referred to in paragraph 6(2)(b) shall include the amendment, modification, or variation of any such approval, consent. licence, permission or registration.

7. Prejudicial Interests Arising in Relation to Overview and Scrutiny Committees

You also have a prejudicial interest in any business before an overview and scrutiny committee of your authority (or of a sub-committee of such a committee) where:

- (a) that business relates to a decision made (whether implemented or not) or action taken by your authority's executive or another of your authority's committees, sub-committees, joint committees or joint sub-committees; and
- (b) at the time the decision was made or action was taken, you were a Member of the executive, committee, sub-committee, joint committee or joint sub-committee mentioned in paragraph (a) and you were present when that decision was made or action was taken.

8. Effect of Prejudicial Interests on Participation

- 1. Subject to sub-paragraph (2), where you have a prejudicial interest in any business of the authority:
 - (a) you must withdraw from the room or chamber where a meeting considering the business is being held;
 - (i) in a case where sub-paragraph (2) applies, immediately after making representations, answering questions or giving evidence;
 - (ii) in any other case, whenever it becomes apparent that the business is being considered at that meeting:

unless you have obtained a dispensation from the Monitoring Officer;

- (b) you must not exercise executive functions in relation to that business; and
- (c) you must not seek improperly to influence a decision about that business
- 2. Where you have a prejudicial interest in any business of your authority, you may attend a meeting (including a meeting of the overview and scrutiny committee of your authority or of a sub-committee of such a committee) but only for the purpose of making representations, answering questions or giving evidence relating to the business, provided that the public are also allowed to attend the meeting for the same purpose, whether under a statutory right or otherwise.

9. Disclosable Pecuniary Interests

(1) Subject to sub-paragraphs (2) and (3), you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any business of your Authority where you or your partner have any interest of a description specified as a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in Regulations made by the Secretary of State pursuant to Section 30 of the Localism Act 2011. (The Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012. SI 2012/1464).

Disclosable Pecuniary Interests are:

- (i) any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain;
- (ii) any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the authority) made or provided within the preceding 12 months in respect of any expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a Member, or towards your election expenses. This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade union within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992(a);
- (iii) any contract which is made between the relevant person (or body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest) and the authority under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be executed and which has not been fully discharged.
- (iv) any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the authority;
- (vi) any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of the authority for a month or longer;
- (vii) any beneficial interest in securities of a body where that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the area of the relevant authority; and

either

(a) the total nominal value of the securities exceed s (25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or

(b) if the share capital of that body is of more that none class, the total nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that class

(certain words and expressions used in this list are defined in Regulations)

- (2) In sub-paragraph (1), your partner means:
 - (a) Your spouse or civil partner
 - (b) A person with whom you are living as husband and wife, or
 - (c) A person with whom you are living as if you were civil partners.
- (3) In sub-paragraph (2), any interest which your partner may have is only treated as your interest if you are aware that your partner has the interest.

Disclosure of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests

- (4) (1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2) where you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any business of your authority and you attend a meeting of your authority at which the business is considered you must disclose to that meeting the existence and nature of that interest at the commencement of that consideration or when the interest becomes apparent.
 - (2) Where you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any business of your authority you need only disclose to the meeting the existence and nature of the interest if the interest is not already registered on your register of Member's interests.
 - (3) If the Disclosable Pecuniary Interest is not already on your register of Member's interests or the subject of a pending notification to the Monitoring Officer and is disclosed to the meeting you must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest within 28 days of disclosure to the meeting.

Effect of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests on Participation

- (5) Where you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any business of your authority;
 - (a) you must not participate or participate further in any discussions of the matter at a meeting; or
 - (b) participate in any vote or further vote taken on the matter at the meeting; and
 - (c) by virtue of a Standing Order must withdraw from the room or chamber where the meeting considering the matter is being held.

Part 3 – Registration of Members' Interests

10. Registration of Members' Interests

- (1) Subject to paragraph 11, you must, within 28 days of:
 - (a) This Code being adopted or applied by the authority; or

- (b) your election or appointment to office (where that is later), register in your authority's register of Members' interests details of:
 - (i) your personal interests where they fall within a category mentioned in paragraph 4(1)(a) by providing written notification to your authority's Monitoring Officer and
 - (ii) Disclosable Pecuniary Interests as defined in paragraph 9.
- (2) You must within 28 days of becoming aware of any new personal or pecuniary interest or change to any such interest registered under paragraph (1), register details of that new interest or change by written notification to your authority's Monitoring Officer.

11. Sensitive Information

- (1) Where you consider that the information relating to any of your Interests is sensitive information, and your authority's Monitoring Officer agrees, the Monitoring Officer shall not include details of the interest on any copies of the register of Members' interests which are made available for inspection or any published version of the register, but may include a statement that you have an interest, the details of which are withheld under this paragraph.
- (2) You must, within 28 days of becoming aware of any change of circumstances which means that information excluded under paragraph (1) is no longer sensitive information, notify your authority's Monitoring Officer asking that the information be included in the register of Members' interests.
- (3) In this Code, "sensitive information" means information, the details of which, if disclosed, could lead to you or a person connected with you being subject to violence or intimidation.

12. Dispensations

- (1) On a written request made to the Monitoring Officer by a Member for a dispensation the Monitoring Officer or a Committee may grant a dispensation relieving the Member from either or both of the restrictions in paragraphs 8(1)(a) and 9(5)(a) and (b) (restrictions on participating in discussions and in voting), in cases described in the dispensation.
- (2) A dispensation may be granted only if, after having had regard to all relevant circumstances, the Monitoring Officer or the Governance Committee if appropriate:
 - (a) considers that without the dispensation the number of persons prohibited by paragraphs 8(1) and 9(5) from participating in any particular business would be so great a proportion of the body transacting the business as to impede the transaction of the business,
 - (b) considers that without the dispensation the representation of different political groups on the body transacting any particular business would be so upset as to alter the likely outcome of any vote relating to the business,

- (c) considers that granting the dispensation is in the interests of persons living in the authority's area,
- (d) if it is an authority to which Part 1A of the Local Government Act 2000 applies and is operating executive arrangements, considers that without the dispensation each Member of the authority's executive would be prohibited by paragraphs 8 and 9 from participating in any particular business to be transacted by the authority's executive, or
- (e) considers that it is otherwise appropriate to grant a dispensation.
- (3) A dispensation must specify the period for which it has effect, and the period specified may not exceed four years.
- (4) Paragraphs 8(1) and 9(5) does not apply in relation to anything done for the purpose of deciding whether to grant a dispensation under this paragraph.

Part 4 – The General Principles of Public Life

Selflessness

1. Members should serve only the public interest and should never improperly confer an advantage or disadvantage on any person.

Integrity

2. Members should not place themselves in situations where their integrity may be questioned, should not behave improperly and should on all occasions avoid the appearance of such behaviour.

Obiectivity

3. Members should make decisions on merit, including when making appointments, awarding contracts, or recommending individuals for rewards or benefits.

Accountability

4. Members should be accountable to the public for their actions and the manner in which they carry out their responsibilities, and should co-operate fully and honestly with any scrutiny appropriate to their particular office.

Openness

5. Members should be as open as possible about their actions and those of their authority, and should be prepared to give reasons for those actions.

Honesty

6. Members should not place themselves in situations where their honesty may be questioned, should not behave dishonestly and should on all occasions avoid the appearance of such behaviour.

Leadership

7. Members should promote and support these principles by leadership, and by example, and should act in a way that secures or preserves public confidence.

Part 5 – The Categories of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests under The Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012 SI 2012/1464

A 'disclosable pecuniary interest' is an interest of yourself or your partner (which means spouse or civil partner, a person with whom you are living as husband or wife, or a person with whom you are living as if you are civil partners) within the following descriptions:

| Interest | Description |
|---|--|
| Employment, office, trade, profession or vocation | Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain. |
| Sponsorship | Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the relevant authority) made or provided within the relevant period in respect of any expenses incurred by M in carrying out duties as a Member, or towards the election expenses of M. This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade union within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992. |
| Contracts | Any contract which is made between the relevant person (or a body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest) and the relevant authority— (a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be executed; and (b) which has not been fully discharged. |
| Land | Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the relevant authority. |
| Licences | Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of the relevant authority for a month or longer. |
| Corporate tenancies | Any tenancy where (to M's knowledge)— (a) the landlord is the relevant authority; and (b) the tenant is a body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest. |
| Securities | Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where— (a) that body (to M's knowledge) has a place of business or land in the area of the relevant authority; and (b) either— |
| | (i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or |

| Interest | Description |
|----------|--|
| | (ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that class. |

These descriptions on interests are subject to the following definitions:

"the Act" means the Localism Act 2011;

"body" in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest" means a firm in which the relevant person is a partner or a body corporate of which the relevant person is a director, or in the securities of which the relevant person has a beneficial interest;

"director" includes a Member of the committee of management of an industrial and provident society;

"land" includes an easement, servitude, interest or right in or over land which does not carry with it a right for the relevant person (alone or jointly with another) to occupy the land or to receive income;

"M" means a Member of a relevant authority;

"Member" includes a co-opted Member;

"relevant authority" means the authority of which M is a Member;

"relevant period" means the period of 12 months ending with the day on which M gives a notification for the purposes of Section 30(1) or Section 31(7), as the case may be, of the Act:

"relevant person" means M or any other person referred to in Section 30(3)(b) of the Act; "securities" means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 and other securities of any description, other than money deposited with a building society.

A Code of Conduct for Councillors: Acceptance of Gifts and Hospitality

The acceptance of gifts and hospitality by Councillors is not merely an administrative issue. It reflects directly upon the perception of Councillors and of the authority as acting in the public interest or as acting for the personal advantage of friends and for what personal benefit Councillors can get out of their position.

The law on the acceptance of gifts and hospitality is set out in the authority's Code of Conduct for Members and in the Bribery Act. These requirements are then supplemented by the procedures which have been adopted by this authority, to provide a clear set of rules for the protection of both Councillors and the authority. Acceptance of a gift or hospitality in breach of the Code, or failure to declare receipt of such a gift or hospitality, can lead to sanctions against a Councillor. Under the Bribery Act 2010 if a Councillor agrees to a request, receives or accepts a financial or other advantage with the intention that a "relevant function or activity" is performed improperly, a Councillor may be liable for a fine up to £5,000 or imprisonment for up to 12 months, or on indictment to an unlimited fine and/or imprisonment for up to 10 years.

This Code of Conduct sets out:

- (a) the principles which you should apply whenever you have to decide whether it would be proper to accept any gift or hospitality
- (b) a procedure for obtaining consent to accept a gift or hospitality, when you consider that it would be proper to accept it
- (c) a procedure for declaring any gift or hospitality which you receive and for accounting for any gift to the authority

This Code does not apply to the acceptance of any facilities or hospitality which may be provided to you by this authority.

1 General Principles

In deciding whether it is proper to accept any gift or hospitality, it is a matter of judgement for each individual Member, and you should apply principles (a) to (e) below. Even if the gift or hospitality comes within one of the general consents set out below, you should not accept it if to do so would be in breach of one or more of these principles. Any gifts that you are offered and that you decline should be reported on the declaration of refusal of hospitality or of a gift form (copy attached) and sent to the Monitoring Officer who will maintain a record of such declarations.

(a) Never accept a gift or hospitality as an inducement or reward for anything you do as a Councillor

As a Councillor, you must act in the public interest and must not be swayed in the discharge of your duties by the offer, prospect of an offer, or the non-offer of any inducement or reward for discharging those duties in a particular manner.

Section 2 of the Bribery Act 2010 provides that it will be an offence to agree to a request, receive or accept a financial or other advantage with the intention that a "relevant function or activity" should be performed improperly. A Councillor if found guilty of that offence may be liable for a fine up to £5,000 or imprisonment for up to 12 months, and on indictment to an unlimited fine and/or imprisonment for up to 10 years.

Further, the authority's Code of Conduct for Members provides that you must act in the public interest, serving the authority and the whole community, rather than acting in the interests of any particular individual or section of the community, and that it is a breach of the Code improperly to confer any advantage or disadvantage on any person, including yourself.

(b) You should only accept a gift or hospitality if there is a commensurate benefit to the authority.

The only proper reason for accepting any gift or hospitality is that there is a commensurate benefit for the authority which would not have been available but for the acceptance of that gift or hospitality.

Acceptance of hospitality can confer an advantage on the authority, such as an opportunity to progress the business of the authority expeditiously through a working lunch, or to canvass the interests of the authority and its area at a meeting. Acceptance of a gift is much less likely to confer such an advantage. But unless the benefit to the authority is clear, and is commensurate with the value of the gift or hospitality, the presumption must be that the gift or hospitality is purely for your personal benefit.

As set out above, the authority's code provides that you must not improperly confer any advantage on anyone, including yourself. Acceptance as a Councillor of a gift or hospitality for your own benefit or advantage, rather than for the benefit to the authority, would be a breach of the Code.

(c) Never accept a gift or hospitality if acceptance might be open to misinterpretation

The appearance of impropriety can be just as damaging to the authority and to you as a Councillor as actual impropriety. The authority's ability to govern rests upon its reputation for acting fairly and in the public interest. You must therefore consider whether the acceptance of the gift or hospitality is capable of being interpreted as a sign that you or the authority favours any particular person, company or section of the community or as placing you under any improper obligation to any person or organisation. If there is any possibility that it might be so interpreted, you must either refuse the gift or hospitality or take appropriate steps to ensure that such a misunderstanding cannot arise.

Certain occasions are particularly sensitive, and require the avoidance of any opportunity for such misunderstanding. These include:

- (i) occasions when the authority is going through a competitive procurement process, in respect of any indication of favour for a particular tenderer.
- (ii) determinations of planning applications or planning policy, in respect of any person or organisation which stands to gain or lose from the determination.
- (iii) funding decisions, when the authority is determining a grant application by any person or organisation.
- (iv) issues affecting voluntary service organisations in relation to the grant making process.

(d) Never accept a gift or hospitality which puts you under an improper obligation

Recognise that some commercial organisations and private individuals see the provision of gifts and hospitality as a means of buying influence. If you accept a gift or hospitality improperly, it is possible that they may seek to use this fact to persuade you to determine an issue in their favour. Equally, if others note that you have been prepared to accept a gift or hospitality improperly, they may feel that they will no longer be able to secure impartial consideration from the authority.

(e) Never solicit a gift or hospitality

You must never solicit or invite an offer of a gift or hospitality in connection with your position as a Councillor. You should also take care to avoid giving any indication that you might be open to such any improper offer.

2 Consent Regimes

(a) General Consent Provisions

For clarity, the authority has agreed that you may accept gifts and hospitality in the following circumstances:

- (i) civic hospitality provided by another public authority
- (ii) modest refreshment in connection with any meeting in the ordinary course of your work, such as tea, coffee, soft drinks and biscuits
- (iii) tickets for sporting, cultural and entertainment events which are sponsored by the authority
- (iv) small gifts of low intrinsic value below £25, branded with the name of the company or organisation making the gift, such as pens, pencils, mouse pads, calendars and diaries. However, you should take care not to display any such branded items when this might be taken as an indication of favour to a particular supplier or contractor, for example in the course of a procurement exercise. You should also be wary of accepting a number of these lower value gifts from the same company or organisation.
- (v) a modest alcoholic or soft drink on the occasion of an accidental social meeting, such as a pint of beer from someone with whom you have had contact in the course of fulfilling your duties as a Councillor if you meet accidentally in a public house, cafe or bar. In such cases, you should make reasonable efforts to return the offer where this is practicable
- (vi) a modest working lunch not exceeding £15 a head in the course of a meeting in the offices of a party with whom the authority has an existing business connection where this is required in order to facilitate the conduct of that business. Councillors should not make such arrangements themselves, but request officers to settle the detailed arrangements, and officers are under instruction, when arranging any such meeting, to make it clear to the other party that such a lunch must not exceed a value of £15 a head
- (vii) modest souvenir gifts with a value below £25 from another public authority given on the occasion of a visit by or to the authority

- (viii) Hospitality received in the course of an external visit or meeting which has been duly authorised by the authority. Councillors should not make such arrangements themselves, but request officers to settle the detailed arrangements, and officers are under instruction to make it clear that any such hospitality for Councillors and officers is to be no more than commensurate with the nature of the visit
- other unsolicited gifts, where it is impracticable to return them to the person or organisation making the gift, provided that the Councillor deals with the gift strictly in accordance with the following procedure: The Councillor must, as soon as practicable after the receipt of the gift, pass it to the Secretary to the Mayor together with a written statement identifying the information set out in Paragraphs 2(b) below. The Secretary will then write to the person or organisation making the gift thanking them on your behalf for the gift and informing them that you have donated the gift to the Mayor's Charity Fund, on whose behalf it will be raffled or other wise disposed of in due course, the proceeds being devoted to a charitable cause chosen by the Mayor.

(b) Unacceptable Gifts

The following are examples of unacceptable gifts:

Paid holiday or leisure travel or accommodation.

Tickets for premium events which are offered on a personal basis.

Bottles of wines or spirits.

Use of a company flat or hotel suite.

Discounted services, materials, labour, etc. from contractors or suppliers which are not equally available on the same basis to others not having an actual or potential business link with them. Members should not procure or encourage any such provision to family, friends or business associates.

When a particular person or firm has a matter currently in issue with the Council, then clearly common sense dictates a more restrictive approach. An important criterion in exercising judgement is what interpretation others might reasonably put on acceptance.

(c) Special Consent Provisions

If you wish to accept any gift or hospitality which is in accordance with the General Principles set out in Paragraph 1, but is not within any of the general consents set out in Paragraph 2(a), you may only do so if you have previously obtained specific consent in accordance with the following procedure:

You must make an application in writing to the Monitoring Officer, setting out:

- (i) the nature and your estimate of the market value of the gift or hospitality
- (ii) who the invitation or offer has been made by or on behalf of
- (iii) the connection which you have with the person or organisation making the offer or invitation, such as any work which you have undertaken for the authority in which they have been involved

- (iv) any work, permission, concession or facility which you are aware that the person or organisation making the offer or invitation may seek from the authority
- (v) any special circumstances which lead you to believe that acceptance of the gift or hospitality will not be improper

You must not accept the gift or hospitality until you have received the appropriate consent.

The Monitoring Officer will enter details of any approval in a register which will be available for public inspection on the occasion of the public inspection of the authority's accounts for the relevant year. But note that this does not relieve you of the obligation to register the receipt of gifts and hospitality in accordance with Paragraph 3, below.

3 Reporting

Where you are offered any gift or hospitality which you estimate to have a market value or cost of provision of £25 or greater, you must, as soon as possible after receipt of the gift or hospitality, make a declaration in writing to the Monitoring Officer, using the appropriate form. The Monitoring Officer will retain a copy of any such declaration in a register which will be available for public inspection until the approval of the authority's accounts for the year in question.

Even if the value of the gift or hospitality is less than £25, if you are concerned that its acceptance might be misinterpreted, and particularly where it comes from a contractor or tenderer, you may make a voluntary declaration in the same manner to ensure that there is nothing secret or underhand about the gift or hospitality. If you are in any doubt about the propriety of accepting a particular gift or hospitality, you should contact the Monitoring Officer before accepting.

4 Gifts to the Authority

Gifts to the authority may take the form of the provision of land, goods or services, either to keep or to test with a view to future acquisition, an offer to carry out works or sponsorship of a function which is organised or supported by the authority. You should not solicit any such gift on behalf of the authority except where the authority has formally identified the opportunity for participation by an external party and how that participation is to be secured, for example in relation to sponsorship of public musical and theatrical performances and developers' contributions under Section 106 Agreements. If you receive such an offer on behalf of the authority, you must first consider whether it is appropriate for the authority to accept the offer (in terms of whether the acceptance of the gift might be seen as putting the authority under any improper obligation, whether there is a real benefit to the authority which would outweigh any dis-benefits). If you do not have delegated authority to accept the gift, you should report the offer directly to the Monitoring Officer who has such delegated authority, together with your recommendation. The Monitoring Officer will then write back to the person or organisation making the offer, to record the acceptance or nonacceptance of the gift, record the gift for audit purposes and ensure that the gift is properly applied for the benefit of the authority. If you have any concerns about the motives of the person or organisation making the offer, or whether it would be proper for the authority to accept the gift, you should consult the Monitoring Officer directly.

5 Definitions

- (a) "Gift or hospitality" includes any of the following:
 - (i) the free gift of any goods or services
 - (ii) the opportunity to acquire any goods or services at a discount or on terms which are more advantageous than those which are available to the general public
 - (iii) the opportunity to obtain any goods or services which are not available to the general public
 - (iv) the offer of food, drink, accommodation or entertainment, or the opportunity to attend any cultural, sporting or entertainment event.
- (b) References to the "value" or "cost" of any gift or hospitality are references to the higher of:
 - (i) your estimate of the cost to the person or organisation of providing the gift or consideration
 - (ii) the open market price which a member of the public would have to pay for the gift or hospitality, if it were made available commercially to the public, less the cash sum of any contribution which you would be required to make toward that price to the person or organisation providing or offering the gift or hospitality.

Councillor's Declaration of Receipt of Gifts or Hospitality

| Name | |
|---|------|
| What was the gift or hospitality? | |
| What is your best estimate of its market value or cost? | |
| Who provided it? | |
| When and where did you receive it? | |
| Does it come within one of the general consents set out in the Code of Conduct? If so, which? | |
| Did you take advice from the Monitoring Officer before accepting it? | |
| Were there any special circumstances justifying acceptance of this gift or hospitality? | |
| Do you have any contact in your role as a Councillor with the person or organisation providing the gift or hospitality? | |
| Signed | Date |

Completed form to be submitted to the Monitoring Officer who will maintain a record of declarations.

Councillor's Declaration of REFUSAL TO ACCEPT Gifts or Hospitality

| Name | |
|--|------|
| What was the gift or hospitality offered? | |
| What is your best estimate of its market value or cost? | |
| Who offered it? | |
| By what means did you decline it? e.g. By returning the gift, by declining in writing, by declining verbally. | |
| Do you have any contact in your role as a Councillor with the person or organisation offering the gift or hospitality? | |
| Signed | Date |

Completed form to be submitted to the Monitoring Officer who will maintain a record of declarations.